RECEIVED

Jun 25 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000651

Martha M. Fountain and Curtis Fountain Plaintiffs

v.

Fred's, Inc. and Wildevco, LLC, Respondents

v.

Tippins-Polk Construction, Inc. and Rhoad's Excavating Services, LLC.....Third-Party
Defendants

Of Whom Tippins-Polk Construction, Inc. is the Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER TIPPINS-POLK CONSTRUCTION, INC.

WALL TEMPLETON & HALDRUP, P.A.

Morgan S. Templeton
John J. Dodds, IV
145 King Street, Suite 300 (29401)
Post Office Box 1200
Charleston, South Carolina 29402

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FINDING THAT THERE WAS A SPECIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FRED'S AND PETITIONER TO SUPPORT FRED'S CLAIM FOR EQUITABLE INDEMNITY.
- II. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION MISAPPLIES NEARLY A CENTURY OF PREMISES LIABILITY JURISPRUDENCE FROM THIS COURT REGARDING RESPONDENTS' INDEPENDENT DUTIES OWED TO PLAINTIFFS WHICH COULD NOT HAVE BEEN BREACHED BY PETITIONER.
- III. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN OVERLOOKING THE BREACH OF INDEPENDENT DUTIES OWED TO PLAINTIFFS SO AS TO FIND RESPONDENTS FREE FROM FAULT SO AS TO ALLOW FOR AN EQUITABLE INDEMNITY CLAIM.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The sole legal theory and cause of action presented in this case is equitable indemnity. In order for this Court to affirm the Court of Appeals' decision, it must expand the "special relationship" doctrine espoused in Rock Hill Telephone, *infra*, and it must find that both Respondents are 100% free from fault for the claims asserted against them by the Plaintiffs in the underlying action. If the Court does neither, then it must reverse the Court of Appeals and enter judgment in favor of Petitioner. If there is even the *slightest* bit of fault on the part of Respondents, their claim fails under South Carolina law. When considering these issues, it is paramount for the Court to consider the legal premise for which Respondents were sued and apply that premise to the notion of whether entities who breach independent duties owed to business invitees can, nonetheless, shirk their responsibility to those invitees by passing all of its liability to a third party who is never claimed by a plaintiff to have been harmed by the alleged act or omission of the third party. If the Court of Appeals' opinion stands, it marks a significant shift in South Carolina jurisprudence.

Originally, this matter arose out of a premises liability personal injury matter stemming from a trip-and-fall that occurred at a Fred's store in Williston, South Carolina. Respondent Fred's, Inc. ("Fred's") was the tenant of the subject building pursuant to a written lease (the "Lease") and Respondent Wildevco, LLC ("Wildevco") was the developer, owner, and landlord of the property and improvements located thereon. (App. p. 22). Petitioner Tippins-Polk Construction ("Petitioner") was the general contractor hired by Wildevco to construct the subject building pursuant to the architectural and site plans provided to it by Wildevco. (App. pp. 476–78).¹

In 2005, Respondents entered into the Lease for the subject building, whereby Wildevco agreed to construct and lease the building to Fred's in which Fred's would operate one of its stores. (App. pp. 479–533). According to the Lease, Wildevco agreed to construct the building and other improvements in accordance with the "Plot Plan" and "Project Criteria" provided to it by Fred's. (App. pp. 481–82). Wildevco was required "to provide [Fred's] with construction plans from, or provided by [Wildevco's] builder," which plans were further required to "be approved, dated and initialed by [Fred's]." (App. p. 482). "All of said construction [was to] be done by [Wildevco] at its sole cost and expense" *Id.* The Lease also provided that Wildevco agreed to "keep and repair the exterior of the Demised Premises, including the parking lot, parking lot lights, entrance and exits, sidewalks, ramps, [and] curbs" (App. p. 485). The term of the Lease was for ten years to commence April 1, 2005. (App. pp. 482–85).

As part of its obligations under the Lease, Wildevco hired an architect to provide architectural plans and specifications for the building and hired engineers to provide site plans for the property. (App. p. 278). The site engineer for the subject project was Hass & Hilderbrand, Inc. (the "Engineer"). The Engineer prepared the site plans for the subject project, which set forth

¹ Fred's was not a party to the contract between Wildevco and Petitioner.

“how [the] site will be graded, how the utilities are installed; basically everything on the property that’s developed from the ground down, including pavement.” (App. p. 240). The Engineer used the architectural plans as its basis for creating the site plans. (App. p. 249). However, the architectural plans that were provided to the Engineer were different from the final stamped architectural plans. (App. p. 263). It was later acknowledged by both the Engineer and the trial court that the sidewalk details in the architectural plans conflicted with the sidewalk details in the site plans. (App. p. 23; App. p. 256). Specifically, it was noted that the site plans did not include a handicap ramp and indicated a nine-foot sidewalk, while the architectural plans included a ramp and indicated a sidewalk in excess of ten feet. Id.

Pursuant to the contract between Wildevco and the architect, Christopher Booker Architects (the “Architect”), Wildevco had the option of requesting field inspections by the Architect for the price of \$100.00 per visit; however, Wildevco never requested the Architect to conduct any such field inspections to ensure that the building and improvements were constructed in accordance with the architectural plans. (App. p. 565; App. p. 294). Furthermore, the Engineer testified at trial that it was regular for developers to request field inspections to ensure that the project was constructed in accordance with the site plans. (App. pp. 258–59). However, Wildevco never requested the Engineer to conduct any such inspections. Id. According to Thaddeus Barber (“Barber”), Wildevco’s construction manager,

I felt like between the general contractor, the architect, and the engineers, that they were the ones that had the expertise to be able to determine whether things were missing or done incorrectly. They would – between the three of them, somebody would bring up an issue.

(App. p. 294). As discussed in further detail below, the conflicting architectural and site plans ultimately led to the condition which caused Plaintiff Martha Fountain to trip and fall.

Construction proceeded and the Certificate of Occupancy was ultimately issued in October 2005. (App. p. 561).

On or about March 10, 2010, Plaintiff Martha Fountain was entering the subject building and “tripped on the raised sidewalk in front of the store’s entrance and fell[,]” causing her to sustain various personal injuries. (App. p. 147). Plaintiffs Martha and Curtis Fountain (“Plaintiffs”) thereafter filed this premises liability action on May 12, 2020, in the Barnwell County Court of Common Pleas against Fred’s and Wildevco. (App. pp. 147–49). Specifically, Plaintiffs’ complaint alleged that Respondents were negligent in the following particulars:

- (a) In failing to keep and maintain the area of the premises as are ordinarily used by customers in transacting business in a reasonably safe condition;
- (b) In failing to take reasonable precautions to avoid an unsafe condition from existing at said store;
- (c) In failing to warn customers of the dangerous condition then and there existing;
- (d) In failing to inspect said premises;
- (e) In failing to remedy the condition as required by law;
- (f) In failing to discover risks and to warn of or make safe existing unreasonable risks; [and]
- (g) In such other particulars that the evidence may establish.

(App. p 148). Notably, Plaintiffs did not allege negligence based upon the creation of an unsafe condition. (App. pp. 147–49). At no point, did Plaintiffs assert any cause of action against Petitioner.

Two years after the filing of the complaint, Respondents filed an amended answer and third-party complaint asserting various claims, including a claim for equitable indemnity, against Petitioner. (App. pp. 156–63). The case was litigated and was ultimately given a date certain trial date of March 21, 2016. On March 21, 2016, Respondents and Petitioner appeared before the court at which time Wildevco moved for a continuance. (App. pp. 172–73). During the hearing, counsel for Wildevco informed the court that Plaintiffs had settled their claims against

Respondents and that Respondents would be proceeding on its sole remaining claim of equitable indemnity against Petitioner. (App. pp. 170–77).

On April 21, 2016, the settlement agreement between Plaintiffs and Respondents was executed, the following portion of which was cited in Wildevco’s memorandum in support of its motion to amend its third amended third-party complaint:

Additionally, this agreement and the payment made by or on behalf of Wildevco and Fred’s pursuant to Section 1 of this Agreement operate as a satisfaction of any claim by Plaintiffs against any and all such Joint Tortfeasors, including Tippins-Polk Construction, Inc., and will reduce any damages recoverable against any and all such Joint Tortfeasors, to the full extent of the relative pro-rata share, if any[,] of the common liability of Wildevco and Fred’s. As such, this Agreement discharges any common liability of Wildevco and Fred’s and any Joint Tortfeasors, including Tippins-Polk Construction, Inc.

(App. p. 145). Having carved out a potential contribution claim against Petitioner, Respondents appeared before Judge Early on the morning of trial and moved to amend their third-party complaint to add contribution as an additional claim against Petitioner. (App. p. 183). The trial court denied the motion to amend, and the trial of the sole claim for equitable indemnity occurred on June 6 and 7, 2016, before Judge Early. (App. p. 191).

At the conclusion of trial, the court took the matter under advisement and subsequently filed an Order and Judgment in favor of Respondents on August 1, 2016. (App. p. 422; App. p. 18). The Order concluded, in part, that Petitioner “breached its contractual obligation and its duty of care to [Respondents] in failing to construct the premises free from latent defects.” (App. p. 27). The Order further stated that “[t]he construction defects, for which [Petitioner] was solely responsible, were the sole and proximate cause of Mrs. Fountain’s injuries” (App. p. 28). The trial court determined that a special relationship existed between Fred’s and Petitioner and Wildevco and Petitioner to support their respective equitable indemnity claims, and also ruled that

Respondents were without fault in causing Plaintiffs' damages. (App. pp. 10–11). Judgment was entered against Petitioner in favor of Wildevco for the sum of \$305,418.30 and in favor of Fred's for the total sum of \$76,691.82. (App. p. 29).

Petitioner filed timely post-trial motions, which were denied. (App. pp. 35–62). Petitioner thereafter timely filed an appeal to the South Carolina Court of Appeals. The appeal was argued on May 15, 2019, and an opinion was issued by the Court of Appeals on February 12, 2020, affirming in part and reversing in part the trial court's order. (App. pp. 817–838). In pertinent part, the Court of Appeals affirmed the existence of a special relationship between Fred's and Petitioner and affirmed the trial court's ruling that Respondents were without fault in causing Plaintiffs' damages. Id.

Petitioner timely filed a request for rehearing on February 26, 2020 (App. pp. 839–55), which was denied by the Court of Appeals on March 30, 2020 (App. p. 860). Petitioner filed a request for certiorari to the South Carolina Supreme Court on April 22, 2020, which was granted via order dated May 28, 2021.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Equitable indemnity is an action in equity.” Walterboro Cmty. Hosp. v. Meacher, 392 S.C. 479, 484, 709 S.E.2d 71, 73 (Ct. App. 2011) (citing Verenes v. Alvanos, 387 S.C. 11, 18 n.6, 690 S.E.2d 771, 774 n.6 (2010) (noting a cause of action for equitable indemnity is necessarily equitable in nature)). “In an action in equity tried by a judge alone, the appellate court may find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence.” Goldman v. RBC, Inc., 369 S.C. 462, 465, 632 S.E.2d 850, 851 (2006). “However, this broad scope of review does not require the appellate court to disregard the findings made below.” Id.

ARGUMENT

I. THERE IS NO SPECIAL RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN FRED'S AND PETITIONER TO SUPPORT FRED'S CLAIM FOR EQUITABLE INDEMNITY AGAINST PETITIONER.

The right of indemnification may be created by contract or by operation of law “in cases of imputed fault or where some special relationship exists between the first and second parties.” Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedman-Singleton, 303 S.C. 52, 56, 398 S.E.2d 500, 503 (Ct. App. 1990). In other words, “a right of indemnity exists wherever the relation between the parties is such that in either law or equity there is an obligation on one party to indemnify the other, as where one is exposed to liability by the wrongful act of another in which he does not join.” Stuck v. Pioneer Logging Mach., Inc., 297 S.C. 22, 24, 301 S.E.2d 552, 553 (1983). However, “there must be some kind of relationship established between the parties beyond the relationship established by virtue of one party alleging that he was sued because of another party’s wrongdoing.” Rock Hill Tel. Co. v. Globe Commc’ns, Inc., 363 S.C. 385, 390 n.3, 611 S.E.2d 235, 237 n.3 (2011).

The sole basis for the Court of Appeals’ determination that Fred’s may maintain an action for equitable indemnity against Petitioner is that “a special relationship existed between Fred’s and [Petitioner] for the purposes of equitable indemnification.” (App. p. 824). This conclusion ignores the established and well-reasoned tenets of Rock Hill Telephone and its progeny.²

A. The Court of Appeals’ decision affirming the existence of a special relationship between Fred’s and Petitioner is in conflict with Rock Hill Telephone.

In Rock Hill Telephone, a utility company received a permit from the South Carolina Department of Transportation (“DOT”) to install an underground cable along a highway. Id. at

² If there is no “special relationship” between Fred’s and Petitioner, the Court does not have to reach the issue of whether Fred’s was free of fault so as to sustain an equitable indemnity cause of action.

388, 611 S.E.2d at 236. The utility hired an independent contractor to complete the work. Id. In turn, the independent contractor subcontracted a portion of the work to a subcontractor. Id. One evening, a car driven by the plaintiff struck the subcontractor's backhoe, causing severe injuries to the plaintiff. Id. The plaintiff thereafter sued the utility company and the subcontractor. Id. Both defendants ultimately settled with the plaintiff, and the utility then sued the subcontractor for equitable indemnity seeking to costs paid to the plaintiff in settlement. 363 S.C. at 388, 611 S.E.2d at 236–37. The United States District Court for the District of South Carolina certified the following question, in pertinent part, for this Court: “Is the relationship between a utility holding a construction permit from the South Carolina Department of Transportation (DOT) and a subcontractor hired by the utility’s independent contractor a ‘special relationship,’ allowing for a claim of equitable indemnity by the utility against the subcontractor?”

This Court answered the question in the negative and determined that a special relationship did not exist between the utility and the subcontractor. Id. at 388, 611 S.E.2d at 237. In so holding, the Court acknowledged that it has “held that the relationship between a contractor and a subcontractor supports a claim for equitable indemnification.” Id. at 389, 611 S.E.2d at 237. “In the present case, however, the relationship between the utility and the subcontractor is an attenuated one.” Id. at 390, 611 S.E.2d at 237. The Court continued,

The utility hired an independent contractor to install an underground communications line. The contractor, *in turn*, hired a subcontractor to perform part of the work. Given these facts, we find that the subcontractor is merely a remote or distant independent contractor, and therefore does not have a special relationship with the utility as contemplated under our jurisprudence.

Id. (emphasis added).

Here, the relationships among the parties are analogous to those scrutinized by this Court in Rock Hill Telephone. Fred’s contracted with Wildevco to have a building constructed and for

Fred's to lease the building from Wildevco as a Fred's store. (App. pp. 22–23). Pursuant to their contract, “[a]ll of said construction [was to] be done by [Wildevco] at its sole cost and expense . . .” (App. p. 482). Wildevco, *in turn*, contracted with Petitioner pursuant to a separate contract³ to construct the building pursuant to the architectural and site plans provided to it. (App. p. 476). Like the relationship between the utility and the subcontractor, the relationship between Fred's and Appellant is an attenuated and tangential one, with the only commonality between the two being that they each entered into separate contracts with Wildevco relating to the subject building.

It is also important to note that in explaining its decision in Rock Hill Telephone, the Court held that “[u]nlike the dissent, we find that there must be some kind of relationship between the parties beyond the relationship established by virtue of one party alleging that he was sued because of another party's wrongdoing.” Id. at 390 n.3, 611 S.E.2d at 237 n.3. In so stating, the Court recognized that there were two separate and independent relationships among the parties—one between the utility and the independent contractor, and one between the independent contractor and the subcontractor—with the overlap between the defendants being that they each entered into separate contracts with the independent contractor relating to the installation of the underground cable. Here, similarly, there are two separate and independent relationships among the parties—one between Fred's and Wildevco, and one between Wildevco and Petitioner—with the commonality being that both Fred's and Petitioner entered into separate contracts with Wildevco relating to the construction of the subject building. However, there is no relationship between Fred's and Petitioner with respect to the subject project beyond which was “established by virtue

³ It should be noted that the terms of the contract between Wildevco and Fred's were not referenced or incorporated by reference into the contract between Wildevco and Appellant. (App. p. 476) (“The Contract Documents consist of the Agreement and the Drawings with Specifications thereon, furnished by Chris Booker & Associates and the Site Plans, furnished by Hass & Hilderbrand, Inc.”).

of [Fred's] alleging [it] was sued because of [Petitioner's] wrongdoing." See Rock Hill Tele., 363 S.C. at 390 n.3, 611 S.E.2d at 237 n.3. Further, Fred's was not sued for creating the alleged condition, but rather for failing to warn, discover, and correct the condition under a shopkeeper liability standard. (App. 148).

Here, the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the trial court's finding of a special relationship between Fred's and Petitioner is directly in conflict with Rock Hill Telephone and the decision should be reversed. Respectfully, the Court of Appeals lacks the authority to rule against prior published precedent from the Supreme Court but is instead bound by the decisions of the Supreme Court, including Rock Hill Telephone. See S.C. Const. art. V, § 9 ("The decisions of the Supreme Court shall bind the Court of Appeal as precedents."); see also Campbell v. Robinson, 398 S.C. 12, 18, 726 S.E.2d 221, 225 (Ct. App. 2012) (stating the Court of Appeals may not overrule Supreme Court precedent). For the Court of Appeals' decision to stand, which departs from established Supreme Court precedent, it would be necessary for this Court to either reverse the Court of Appeals or expand/overrule the sound reasoning of Rock Hill Telephone. Considering the sound principles upon which the Rock Hill Telephone decision relies, reversal or expansion of Rock Hill Telephone is unjustified. The Court should reverse the Court of Appeals' decision as to Fred's and enter judgment in favor of Petitioner in this regard.

B. Even if it is not required that Rock Hill Telephone be overruled, the Court of Appeals' decision affirming the existence of a special relationship between Fred's and Petitioner is inconsistent with previous Supreme Court decisions.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's finding of the existence of a special relationship between Fred's, a tenant of the subject building, and Petitioner, the general contractor hired by the owner, Wildevco, to construct the building. (App. p. 284). The existence of a special relationship between the two was premised upon the following findings of fact:

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