RECEIVED

Aug 02 2021

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2020-000651

Martha M. Fountain and Curtis Fountain.....Plaintiffs,

v.

Fred’s, Inc., and Wildevco, LLC.....Respondents,

v.

Tippins-Polk Construction, Inc., and Rhoad’s Excavating Services, LLC.....Third-Party
Defendants.

Of Whom Tippins-Polk Construction, Inc. is the Petitioner.

RESPONDENT WILDEVCO, LLC’S BRIEF

Regina Hollins Lewis, SC Bar No. 68539
Randi Lynn Roberts, SC Bar No. 78888
GAFFNEYLEWIS LLC
3700 Forest Drive, Suite 400
Columbia, South Carolina 29204
(803) 790-8838

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

On March 10, 2010, Martha Fountain visited the Fred's store to shop. (App. p. 213, line 6 – p. 214, line 4). As she went to enter the store, she caught her toe on a raised area of concrete in the transition from the asphalt pavement of the parking lot to the sidewalk and fell. (App. p. 214, lines 5-15). She fell forward hitting her head against the door of the store and injured her head and right hand/wrist. (App. p. 214, lines 16-21; App. p. 219, lines 2-8). Mrs. Fountain testified that she could not perceive the raised area of the transition and did not notice that there was any change in elevation. (App. p. 227, lines 11-23).

As a result of the fall, Mrs. Fountain underwent four surgical procedures to repair damage to her right hand/wrist and elbow that involved the use of cadaver bones. (App. p. 219, line 4 – p. 220, line 21). She also sustained nerve damage in her shoulder and neck as a result of hitting her head. (*Id.*) Mrs. Fountain testified that, as of the time of trial, she continued to experience numbness in her right hand and was limited in her ability to lift and grip objects. She is no longer able to play the piano or sew due to the injuries sustained in the fall. (App. p. 220, line 22 – p. 222, line 3).

Mrs. Fountain further testified that she was out of work for approximately four months

following the accident and was unable to return to her job as a Zone Manager at Walmart because she was unable to perform the lifting duties of the job. (App. p. 222, line 4 – p. 223, line 16). Mrs. Fountain incurred lost wages of approximately Twenty-One Thousand Dollars (\$21,000.00) and medical expenses of approximately Seventy-Thousand Dollars (\$70,000.00). (App. p. 224, lines 2-9).

The injury caused a financial strain on Martha Fountain and her husband Curtis, who had to work extra hours as a truck driver in order to earn income to compensate for Mrs. Fountain's lost wages. (App. p. 236, lines 2-16). Prior to the accident, Mr. Fountain was planning to stop driving the truck as a result of a promotion Mrs. Fountain received while at Walmart. As a result of the accident, he was unable to stop driving the truck as planned. He testified that they "lost cars and everything else" due to the loss of Mrs. Fountain's income. (App. p. 240, line 10 – p. 238, line 4). In addition, Mr. Fountain had to assist with Mrs. Fountain's care when he was not working given her surgeries and her inability to perform certain tasks for herself. (App. p. 234, line 21 – p. 236, line 25). The underlying litigation followed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"In an action at equity, this court can find facts in accordance with its view of the preponderance of the evidence." *Craft v. South Carolina Commission for the Blind*, 385 S.C. 560, 685 S.E.2d 625 (Ct. App. 2009) (citing *Doe v. Clark*, 318 S.C. 274, 276, 457 S.E.2d 336, 337 (1995)). "However, this court is not required to disregard the findings of the trial court who saw and heard the witnesses and was in a better position to judge their credibility." *Tiger, Inc. v. Fisher Agro, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 229, 237, 391 S.E.2d 538, 543 (1989).

ARGUMENT²

The South Carolina appellate courts have “long recognized the principle of equitable indemnification.” *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedeman-Singleton, Inc., et al.*, 307 S.C. 128, 414 S.E.2d 118 (1992). “Indemnity is that form of compensation in which a first party is liable to pay a second party for a loss or damage the second party incurs to a third party. A right to indemnity may arise by contract (express or implied) or by operation of law as a matter of equity between the first and second party.” *Jourdan v. Boggs/Vaughn Contracting, Inc.*, 324 S.C. 309, 312, 476 S.E.2d 708, 710 (Ct. App. 1996) (quoting *Town of Winnsboro v. Wiedman-Singleton (Winnsboro I)*, 303 S.C. 52, 56, 398 S.E.2d 500, 502 (Ct. App. 1990); *aff’d* 307 S.C. 128, 414 S.E.2d 118 (*Winnsboro II*)). “Indemnity is allowed when the act of the wrongdoer involves the innocent defendant in litigation or places him in a situation where it becomes necessary to incur expenses to protect his interest.” *Id.* at 313, 476 S.E.2d at 710 (citing *Addy v. Bolton*, 257 S.C. 28, 183 S.E.2d 708 (1971)).

“The damages which can be claimed under equitable indemnity may include the amount the innocent party must pay to a third party because of the at-fault party’s breach of contract or negligence as well as attorney fees and costs which proximately result from the at-fault party’s breach of contract or negligence.” *Winnsboro II*, 307 S.C. at 131, 414 S.E.2d at 120. To recover on its equitable indemnification claims against Tippins-Polk, Wildevco was required to show that: 1) Tippins-Polk was at fault in causing the Fountains’ damages; 2) Wildevco had no fault for the Fountains’ damages; and 3) Wildevco incurred expenses that were necessary to protect its interest in defending against the Fountains’ claims. *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners' Ass'n v. Clear View Constr., LLC*, 413 S.C. 615, 625, 776 S.E.2d 426 (Ct. App. 2015) (citing *Inglese v. Beal*, 403

² Section I, to include subsections A-B, of Tippins-Polk's Brief does not pertain to Wildevco, LLC; thus, Wildevco, LLC does not address those arguments in this Brief.

S.C. 290, 299, 742 S.E.2d 687, 692 (Ct. App. 2013); *Walterboro Cmty. Hosp. v. Meacher*, 392 S.C. 479, 485, 709 S.E.2d 71, 74 (Ct. App. 2011)).

Where, as here, a party seeking equitable indemnification settles a claim brought against it by a third-party, the party may recover the cost of settling a case if it makes the following showing: (1) the settlement is bona fide, without fraud or collusion by the parties; (2) the decision to settle is a reasonable means of protecting the innocent party's interest; and (3) the amount of the settlement is reasonable in light of the third party's estimated damages and the risk and extent of defendant's exposure if the case is tried." *Otis Elevator v. Hardin Constr. Co. Group*, 316 S.C. 292, 297, 450 S.E.2d 41, 44 (1994) (internal citation omitted). In making this showing, Wildevco was not required to prove the Fountains' actual ability to recover the amount paid in settlement so long as Wildevco proved that it was *potentially* liable to the Fountains. *Id.* (emphasis added). Here, the trial court properly concluded that Wildevco established all three elements required to support its claim for equitable indemnification against Tippins-Polk and, further, made the requisite showing to recover the cost of settling the underlying case with the Fountains. As the trial court properly entered judgment against Tippins-Polk and in favor of Wildevco, and the South Carolina Court of Appeals properly affirmed the trial court's judgment, this Honorable Court should affirm the South Carolina Court of Appeals' ruling.

I. The trial court's ruling that Tippins-Polk breached certain duties to the Fountains should be affirmed.

A. Tippins-Polk failed to preserve for appeal its claim that the trial court erred in finding Tippins-Polk solely at fault because the Fountains did not allege creation of a hazard as a theory of negligence, because Tippins-Polk failed to present this argument to the Court of Appeals for consideration.

As a preliminary matter, Tippins-Polk seeks to have this Court make a determination on an issue that is not properly preserved for review. The Court should decline its invitation to do so.

Specifically, in its Petition for Certiorari, Tippins-Polk initially framed its argument for Section II as follows: "Respondents were sued by Plaintiffs for breaching independent duties of care owed to Plaintiffs under common law premises liability, duties which Appellant did not owe and, thus, could not have been breached by Appellant." *See* Petition for Writ of Certiorari, p. 13. In contrast, in its subsequently filed Brief, Tippins-Polk framed the argument of Section II differently, as follows: "Respondents were sued by Plaintiffs for breaching independent duties of care owed by Respondents to Plaintiffs under common law premises liability, and, thus, were exposed to liability due to their own breach of duty." *See* Br. of Pet. Tippins-Polk, p. 16. Despite the aforementioned revision to the framing of Section II, Tippins-Polk continues to argue that the trial court erred in finding Tippins-Polk solely at fault because the Fountains did not allege creation of a hazard as a theory of negligence. As set forth more fully below, Tippins-Polk failed to preserve this argument for this Court's review; thus, it is not properly before this Court.

Tippins-Polk's Statement of Issues on appeal to the Court of Appeals failed to raise or address the issue of Tippins-Polk's fault and only included the following issues:

- I. Did the trial court err in finding that there was a sufficient special relationship between Fred's and Appellant to support a claim for equitable indemnification?
- II. Did the trial court err in finding that Respondents were without fault?
- III. Did the trial court err in failing to find that Respondents were estopped from recovering damages not requested within the Complaint?
- IV. Alternatively, did the court err in awarding attorneys' fees under respondents' claim for equitable indemnification even though the fees were for both for defending Plaintiffs' claim, as well as prosecuting this matter against Appellant, and were speculative?

V. Did the court err in refusing to consider a similar incident at a Fred's store in a neighboring county?

(App. 698).

In the argument section of its Final Brief that corresponded with Tippins-Polk's Issue on Appeal II, Tippins-Polk argued as follows: "Respondents failed to prove they were without fault, and there was overwhelming evidence that establishes that both Respondents were at least 1% at fault for Plaintiff's injuries." (App. p. 698, 716). Thus, as reflected in its brief and issues on appeal filed with the South Carolina Court of Appeals, Tippins-Polk failed to raise the argument that the Tippins-Polk cannot be held liable because the Fountains did not allege creation of a hazardous condition in their complaint in the underlying lawsuit. Instead, Tippins-Polk raised this argument for the first time in its Petition for Rehearing to the Court of Appeals. (App. p. 839, 847-51).

Tippins-Polk may not raise an issue for the first time in a petition for rehearing, and, its attempt to do so in the present appeal was untimely and improper. *See Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 469, 719 S.E.2d 640, 644 (2011) ("The purpose of a petition for rehearing is not to present points which lawyers for the losing parties have overlooked or misapprehended, nor is it the purpose of the petition for rehearing to have the case tried in the appellate court a second time." (quoting *Kennedy v. S.C. Retirement Sys.*, 349 S.C. 531, 532, 564 S.E.2d 322, 322 (2001))). Accordingly, Tippins-Polk did not preserve this issue for review by this Honorable Court. *See* Rule 226(d)(2), SCACR (only questions raised in the Court of Appeals **and** in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for a writ of certiorari (emphasis added)); *see Video Gaming Consultants, Inc. v. South Carolina Dep't of Revenue*, 342 S.C. 34, 535 S.E.2d 642 (2000) (issue not argued in brief is deemed abandoned and precludes consideration on appeal).

B. To the extent that Tippins-Polk preserved its argument that the trial court erred in finding Tippins-Polk solely at fault because the Fountains did not allege creation of a hazard as a theory of negligence, the trial court properly found that Tippins-Polk was solely liable for Plaintiff's damages.

Even if Tippins-Polk properly preserved the argument that the trial court erred in finding Tippins-Polk solely at fault because the Fountains did not allege creation of a hazard as a theory of negligence, the trial court properly concluded that Tippins-Polk was solely liable for Plaintiff's damages and the decision by the Court of Appeals should be affirmed. Tippins-Polk argues that because the Fountains did not allege creation of a hazard in their Complaint but rather alleged duties to warn and inspect, Tippins-Polk was not liable to the Fountains in the underlying action, and thus, the trial court erred in finding that Wildevco was entitled to equitable indemnification. This argument without merit as Wildevco is not bound by the theories of liability asserted by the Fountains in pursuing its claim against Tippins-Polk.

"The allegations of the complaint are not determinative of whether a party has the right to indemnity." *Vermeer Carolina's, Inc. v. Wood/Chuck Chipper Corp.*, 336 S.C. 53, 64, 518 S.E.2d 301, 307 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Griffin v. Van Norman*, 302 S.C. 520, 522, 397 S.E.2d 378, 379 (Ct. App. 1990) ("The Complaint serves merely as a background to this [indemnification] litigation. Allegations in a Complaint denied in answer are evidence of nothing."); *First General Servs. v. Miller*, 314 S.C. 439, 445 S.E.2d 446 (1994) (defendant's mere allegations in counterclaim as to negligence of plaintiff may not defeat plaintiff's right to claim derivative liability); *Jourdan v. Boggs/Vaughn Contracting, Inc.*, 324 S.C. 309, 476 S.E.2d 708 (Ct. App. 1996) (allegations of complaint are not determinative of right to indemnity; rather, such determination is based on evidence and facts found by fact finder)).

As set forth above, the law of equitable indemnification in South Carolina is well-established. Tippins-Polk's duty, as the general contractor for the premises at issue in this appeal,

is set forth in *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, which states that “a builder who undertakes to supervise the construction of a building is under a duty to exercise reasonable care and such supervision to see that the work is done in conformity with the applicable building code . . . and in a good and workmanlike manner.” 376 S.C. 545, 560, 658 S.E.2d 80, 88 (2008). The trial court correctly found that Tippins-Polk breached its aforementioned duty by failing to construct the premises free of latent defects, and said defects were the sole proximate cause of the injuries sustained by the Fountains in the underlying action. It was not required that the Fountains allege the creation of a hazardous condition in their complaint. Simply put, the issue was not preserved and even if so, does not compel reversal as alleged by Tippins-Polk.

II. The Court of Appeals properly applied South Carolina law in affirming the trial court’s finding that Wildevco was without fault in the underlying action.

A. Potential liability is insufficient as a matter of law to show that Wildevco was at fault and thus, Tippins-Polk’s argument in this regard is wholly without merit.

In its Brief to this Honorable Court, Tippins-Polk raises, for the first time, the proposition that the "Court of Appeals conflated contractual indemnity principles of law with those of equitable indemnity regarding proof of 'potential liability' as a prerequisite to recovering settlement costs." *See* Br. of Pet. Tippins-Polk, pg. 20. This issue was not raised in its petition for rehearing to the Court of Appeals, or in its Petition for Writ of Certiorari to this Court and, accordingly, is not preserved for review. *See McCray v. State*, 317 S.C. 557, 455 S.E.2d 686 (1995) (issue not raised in petition for a writ of certiorari but presented in brief is not preserved for appeal). Of significance, despite arguing in its present Brief that the Court of Appeals improperly relied upon *Otis Elevator v. Hardin Constr. Co. Group*, 316 S.C. 292 (1994) because it only applies to claims of contractual indemnification, Tippins-Polk cited *Otis* in its Final Brief to the Court of Appeals without any argument that it was inapplicable. (App. p. 717, 723). Based on the foregoing, Tippins-Polk failed

to preserve the issue for review by this Court. *See* Rule 242(d)(2), SCACR ("Only those questions raised in the Court of Appeals and in the petition for rehearing shall be included in the petition for writ of certiorari" (emphasis added)); *Camp v. Springs Mortgage Corp.*, 310 S.C. 514, 516, 426 S.E.2d 304, 305 (1993) (declining to address issue not addressed by the court of appeals and not raised in petition for rehearing); *Holly Hill Lumber Co. v. McCoy*, 210 S.C. 440, 442, 43 S.E.2d 143, 144 (1947) (holding issue not raised in petition for rehearing is the law of the case).

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